
SALISBURY PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION  
SPECIAL MEETING MINUTES 

Thursday September 4, 2025 – 6:30 PM 
Remote Meeting by Live Internet Video Stream and Telephone 

Members Present: 
Dr. Michael Klemens (Chair) 
Cathy Shyer (Vice Chair) 
Martin Whalen (Secretary)  
Bob Riva (Regular Member)  
Allen Cockerline (Regular Member) 
Dr. Danella Schiffer (Alternate Member) 
Beth Wells (Alternate Member) – joined at 6:41pm 
 

Members Absent: 
 
Staff Present: 
Abby Conroy (Land Use Director) 
Miles Todaro (Land Use Technical Specialist) 
 

Brief Items and Announcements 1 

1. Call to Order / Establish Quorum  2 

Chair Klemens called the meeting to order at 6:31pm. Chair Klemens, Vice Chair Shyer, Secretary 3 

Whalen, Regular Member Riva, and Regular Member Cockerline were present and seated to vote. 4 

Alternate Member Schiffer was also present.  5 

 6 

Motion: To accept the agenda. 7 

Made by Riva, seconded by Whalen 8 

Vote: 5-0-0 9 

 10 

2. Minutes of August 4, 2025 – pending 11 

3. Minutes of August 5, 2025 – pending 12 

4. Minutes of August 12, 2025 – pending 13 

5. Minutes of August 14, 2025 – pending 14 

6. Minutes of August 18, 2025 – pending 15 

7. Minutes of August 19, 2025 – pending 16 

8. Minutes of August 26, 2025 – pending 17 

9. Minutes of September 2, 2025 – pending  18 

 19 

Public Hearing – 6:30 PM 20 

10. #2025-0287 / Wake Robin LLC & Ms. Serena Granbery (ARADEV LLC) / 104 & 106 Sharon Road 21 

& 53 Wells Hill Road / Special Permit for Hotel, Redevelopment of the Wake Robin Inn (Section 22 

213.5) / Map 47/ Lot 2 & 2-1 / DOR: 05/05/2025 / Hearing Opened 08/05/2025 / Continue Hearing, 23 

Close By 09/09/2025 24 

 25 

The public hearing continued at 6:33 pm. Chair Klemens provided opening remarks outlining the 26 

meeting’s anticipated schedule. He noted that after the presentations and questions tonight, the 27 

hearing will be continued to September 9th at 6:00pm, which is the last night of the hearing before it 28 

must be closed. He also commented that recently submitted legal opinions will be discussed after the 29 

Commission’s attorney Charles Andres is available to read them. Chair Klemens anticipated 30 

deliberations to begin in early October.  31 

 32 



LUD Conroy provided a demonstration on where to access the documents in the public hearing record 33 

on the Salisbury Town Website. LUTS Todaro listed the documents submitted into the record since the 34 

last public hearing date. Chair Klemens opened the hearing to public comment.  35 

 36 

David Kamp commented that he disagreed with several comments made in recent letters from 37 

Attorney Mackey in the record. Mr. Kamp believed the public understands Sections 803.2 and 803.3 of 38 

the Zoning Regulations, and he believes that the proposal does not meet the requirements of these 39 

Sections. Regarding comments about Section 8-30g made by Attorney Mackey in a letter, Mr. Kamp 40 

asked if the Applicant planned to develop the property into housing via section 8-30g in the event the 41 

current application is denied.  42 

 43 

Mike Abram commented that the hotel site in question has been a hotel for a long time, and can 44 

currently host events that may be loud. He believed that if events are a nuisance, it’s one that has 45 

existed for many years. He also believed the proposal will foster economic development and attract 46 

people to the town. Mr. Abram commented that he would prefer if the project were less ambitious, 47 

and suggested neighbors meet with the applicant to find common ground favorable to both parties. 48 

 49 

Greg Wilmore commented that the decision the Commission members make on this application will 50 

determine their legacy. He believed their decision on this application will have the a more significant 51 

impact on their legacy than any other prior or future decision. 52 

 53 

Judy Gafney commented that the 500 people who signed the petition against the project believe that 54 

the project does not meet the standards set forth in the Zoning Regulations. She said they also believe 55 

that the project will negatively affect noise, lighting, traffic, the aquifer, infrastructure, and the 56 

enjoyment, usefulness, and value of the nearby properties. She noted that signatures were given only 57 

after the signees spent time learning about the project. She asked the Commission to wait as long as 58 

possible before rendering a decision.  59 

 60 

John Sutter commented that the current application is only slightly smaller than the initial (withdrawn) 61 

application. Mr. Sutter believed the application did not meet the Zoning Regulations Special Permit 62 

standards, and would create a nuisance. He also believed property values would decline.  63 

 64 

Bill Cruger asked if he could present the summation at the next meeting rather than Attorney Grimes. 65 

Chair Klemens confirmed that he could. Mr. Cruger stated that he would save his comments for his 66 

summation.  67 

 68 

Richard Shanley was concerned about the precedent being set by allowing the Granbery Parcel (53 69 

Wells Hill Road) to be merged with the hotel property. He asked if that would mean residentially-zoned 70 

properties could be pulled into commercial developments anywhere in town.  71 

 72 

Leo Gafney commented that he and Judy Gafney used to love the Wake Robin Inn, but believed that 73 

the proposal will not be able to rival the White Hart Inn. He believed the proposal is much too large. 74 

Mr. Gafney acknowledged that nuisance is subjective, but believed that should not prevent the 75 

Commission from rendering a decision based on nuisance.   76 

 77 



Laurie Fendrich commented that existing traffic on Wells Hill Road includes a large number of speeding 78 

vehicles. She believed the proposal would add to the traffic problems existing on Wells Hill Road. 79 

 80 

Bruce Palmer asked if there is a figure available showing the percentage size difference between the 81 

existing and proposed Wake Robin Inn. He also asked how “too big” can be measured objectively. Mr. 82 

Palmer also asked for more details on how stormwater improvements address existing runoff. He also 83 

asked how much weight comments from certain experienced individuals, such as Elyse Harney, have 84 

on the Commission’s deliberations.  85 

 86 

Barbara Hockstader commented that the 482 neighbors that have signed the petition and engaged in 87 

the public hearing are evidence that the project will be a nuisance. She noted that there is expert 88 

testimony on the record that indicates that the concerns of the neighbors are justified. Ms. Hockstader 89 

added that she believes the Applicant does not understand what the neighbors are trying to preserve 90 

in their community.  91 

 92 

Julie Norwell noted that the definition of nuisance is subjective, and she believes the volume of letters 93 

of concern is evidence that most neighbors would perceive the project as a nuisance. She also 94 

commented that some neighbors have indicated they are inclined to sell their property if the project is 95 

approved because they believe it will be a nuisance.  96 

 97 

Sarah Virden commented that the project will generate noise, traffic, and disruption that will impact 98 

the neighbors. She asked that the Commission deny the Special Permit.  99 

 100 

Lori Shepard commented that the environment is endangered by the project. She added that the 101 

parcel’s ecosystem is very important to all of the people who live in the area.  102 

 103 

Elyse Harney commented that the Wake Robin guests would be dependent on the volunteer 104 

ambulance service and fire department. She added that these services are in need of volunteers, and 105 

will feel a greater strain if this project is approved. 106 

 107 

Jane Pinckney suggested that Hotchkiss School may wish to buy the Wake Robin for additional 108 

capacity, and to help protect students walking along Sharon Road. Ms. Pinckney also commented she 109 

recently had to wait for seven cars to pass before she was able to leave the post office. She expressed 110 

concern about additional traffic and stress on volunteer emergency services. Ms. Pickney also 111 

expressed concern about the Applicant’s intentions with the property after the project is approved. 112 

She encouraged the Commissioners to think of the project as if it were in their backyard.  113 

 114 

Mark Capecelatro commented that the proposed conditions of approval submitted by Attorney 115 

Mackey lack the proposed merger of 53 Wells Hill Road and 104 & 106 Sharon Road. Mr. Capecelatro 116 

also asked for more details on why a correction was made to the Existing Conditions Survey. 117 

Additionally, he pointed out that the application lacks a complete calculation of area of easements on 118 

the property. Mr. Capecelatro also asked for more details on how the emergency-only access will work 119 

logistically. Finally, he pointed out that the proposed conditions of approval lack the requirement that 120 

the Connecticut Light and Power Company approve the work. Chair Klemens asked if Mr. Capecelatro 121 

believed the parcel had less than the required 10 acres. Mr. Capecelatro answered that he does not 122 

know, because the submitted survey does not factor in the area of the easements.  123 



 124 

Paul Watson asked if straightening the curve on Sharon Road is a part of the proposal. Chair Klemens 125 

answered the he believes the Department of Transportation (DOT) will only consider that once the 126 

Applicant has local approval. Mr. Watson commented that cars frequently pass him on that curve, so 127 

he would like to know more about how the new configuration would affect how the road is used. He 128 

believed that the straightening of the road may result in increased vehicle speed and reduced safety.  129 

 130 

Glenn Kalison asked if any decrease in nearby property values would be considered “unreasonably 131 

adversely affecting property values” per the regulations. Mr. Kalison asked the Commission to consider 132 

this potential impact to property values in their decision. He also asked the Commission to consider if 133 

the proposed conditions are realistic and enforceable.  134 

 135 

Barbara Murphy expressed that her biggest concern is the impact the project may have on the Town 136 

Grove.  137 

 138 

David Jones commented that he has friends in the Hamptons, Nantucket, and Cape Cod who have 139 

expressed that Salisbury reminds them of how those places used to be. He added that the area is 140 

unspoiled, uncrowded, and lacks traffic. Mr. Jones asked the Commission to consider if it’s the right 141 

thing to do to risk changing these qualities of the town.  142 

 143 

Judy Gafney asked if ARADEV LLC has bought the Wake Robin, or if they’re still under written contract. 144 

Chair Klemens answered that the Applicant can be asked if they would like to respond to that question. 145 

LUD Conroy added that this has been answered in the application materials. 146 

 147 

Bruce Palmer asked if the reevaluation of properties impacts the Commission’s decision.  148 

 149 

Lori Shepard asked if Salisbury has a building inspector that is able to monitor the project if it is 150 

approved.  151 

 152 

The Commission took a recess from 7:49pm to 8:05pm. Upon returning from the recess, Chair Klemens 153 

invited the Applicant team to present.  154 

 155 

Attorney Mackey explained he would answer some of the questions that were asked during the public 156 

comment section. Mr. Mackey confirmed the Applicant would agree to the merger of the two parcels 157 

as a condition of approval. Mr. Mackey also clarified that Sharon Road is not proposed to change 158 

shape, instead existing sightline issues are proposed to be resolved. He also confirmed that the State 159 

DOT has the final say in their right-of-way. Mr. Mackey acknowledged the report by the Town 160 

Consulting Acoustic Engineer recently added to the record, and explained that the Applicant’s Acoustic 161 

Engineer will be responding.  162 

 163 

Landscape Architect Mark Arigoni presented a slide-presentation with answers to previously submitted 164 

questions. He explained that per the State Building Code, pools have to be gated and locked, and 165 

clarified the pool will have minimal ambient lighting for safe access and walkability within the property. 166 

He also committed to having the pool lighting set on a similar dimmer system as the proposed parking 167 

area. Mr. Arigoni also clarified that the photometric plan doesn’t take into account trees and foliage, 168 

resulting in a conservative approach to light levels which shows 0.0 foot candles at all property lines. 169 



Mr. Arigoni noted that permeability testing was done, and the proposed stormwater management 170 

system exceeds the guidelines set in the stormwater quality manual. He added that the applicant is 171 

okay with adding plants to the basins, but that plants are not needed for the basins to function. 172 

Regarding questions about nitrogen, Mr. Arigoni explained that the stormwater quality manual lists 173 

lawn debris, sedimentation, and erosion as the main sources. He added that management of these 174 

sources is addressed in the application materials. Mr. Arigoni also clarified that the Integrated Pest 175 

Management plan is a part of their Integrated Landscape Management Plan.  176 

 177 

Vince McDermott of SLR Consulting explained he had submitted a response in the record to the report 178 

submitted by The Miller Planning Group. Mr. McDermott explained the application is for a use 179 

permitted by Special Permit, not a mixed use. He also explained that building coverage requirements 180 

are met, and there is not a maximum total ground area coverage in the Zoning Regulations. Mr. 181 

McDermott believed that many of the concerns listed in the Miller Planning Group report were 182 

opinions that could also be applied to the existing Wake Robin Inn. He clarified that noise, parking, and 183 

large events are presently allowed at the existing Inn. He explained that the Applicant sought to 184 

voluntarily limit operations through the Special Permit process. Mr. McDermott also challenged the 185 

suggestion that the lack of available affordable housing is of particular concern for this application. He 186 

believed that this argument could be applied to nearly any non-residential property. Mr. McDermott 187 

also answered a question Chair Klemens posed at a previous meeting regarding how many units of 188 

affordable housing could theoretically be built on the property. Mr. McDermott answered that 189 

available infrastructure would be a primary limiting factor, so accounting for available sewer capacity 190 

he believes over 130 bedrooms would be possible. He clarified that regardless of the exact number of 191 

units possible, affordable housing under an 8-30g application is likely to have a more significant impact 192 

than the current proposal. Mr. McDermott also answered one of Mr. Capecelatro’s questions, 193 

explaining that the emergency service organizations would have a key or code to be able to let 194 

themselves in the emergency-only access on Wells Hill Road. Mr. McDermott disagreed with the Miller 195 

Planning Group’s suggestions that the project constitutes commercial sprawl and spot zoning. He also 196 

clarified that the valet parking would not involve an off-site parking lot or parking on Wells Hill Road or 197 

Sharon Road. In response to the Miller Planning Group’s environmental concerns, Mr. McDermott 198 

reiterated that the development is below the maximum building coverage, and areas disturbed by 199 

construction will be re-vegetated.  200 

 201 

Steven Cohen answered some of the questions from the public comment section of the public hearing. 202 

Mr. Cohen stated that the existing Wake Robin Inn is at 4.1% building coverage, and the proposed is 203 

6.1%. He added that the existing square footage is roughly 36,000, and the proposed is roughly 67,000. 204 

Mr. Cohen also answered that the correction made to the survey was to fix an error in the labeling of 205 

one section, not an error in the calculations. He also clarified the proposed hours of operation in the 206 

record. Mr. Cohen explained that estimated pool activity sound levels are below the 32-decibel design 207 

goal, and at times below the daytime ambient sound levels. He also explained that parking lot sources 208 

will be approximately nine feet above grade. In response to a previous question from Chair Klemens, 209 

Mr. Cohen explained that their proposal for 53 Wells Hill Road would eliminate the existing non-210 

conformities and provide a greater buffer along Wells Hill Road than converting the existing house to 211 

staff housing would. Mr. Cohen added that staff will be available 24 hours a day, and speculation 212 

regarding potential future violations of the Special Permit cannot be taken into account. Per the 213 

question posed by Mr. Capecelatro, Mr. Cohen also provided the calculation of the lot area of 104&106 214 



Sharon Road with easement area subtracted (10.606 acres). He added that even if the AT&T lease area 215 

and sewer easement area were subtracted, the parcel would still contain the minimum 10 acres.  216 

 217 

Chair Klemens asked if the slope of the property affected the photometric plan. Mr. Arigoni answered 218 

topography is not included since photometric plans take a conservative approach by not factoring in 219 

vegetation. He added that light fixtures were intentionally designed to be short, with a limited amount 220 

of total lighting. Chair Klemens asked if people will be able to see the facility’s lights from nearby 221 

down-slope properties such as the lake. Mr. Arigoni answered that he could not say for certain, but 222 

noted that there are many obstructions between the property and the lake, such as vegetation and 223 

houses. Chair Klemens asked Mr. McDermott if the items proposed alongside the hotel, such as the 224 

pool and spa, were customary and incidental to the hotel in his opinion. Mr. McDermott confirmed 225 

they were. Chair Klemens asked Attorney Mackey to clarify the role that speculation has on the 226 

Commission’s decisions. Mr. Mackey answered that the Commission cannot base their decision on 227 

speculation or anecdotal evidence when expert testimony is on the record. Chair Klemens asked if 228 

large projects such as this may necessitate the Building Official obtaining outside help. Mr. McDermott 229 

confirmed that is correct, and explained the cost of the outside help would be included with the fees 230 

the applicant pays for the building permit. 231 

 232 

Vice Chair Shyer asked how long demolition and construction would take. Jonathan Marrale answered 233 

that they anticipate between 14 and 18 months once the full construction set of plans and building 234 

permits are ready. He added that some selective interior demolition would be done during the 235 

development of the construction drawings. Mr. Marrale estimated that the total process would take 236 

between 2 and 2.25 years. Secretary Whalen had no questions at this time. 237 

 238 

Regular Member Cockerline asked for more details on how the lights are perceived at 0.0 foot candles. 239 

Mr. Arigoni answered that the “Backlight, Uplight, and Glare” (BUG) rating of the light from Dark Skies 240 

and the Illumination Society attempts to put a numerical rating on every light for this question. He 241 

added that the BUG ratings of all of the proposed lamps are included in the application. Regular 242 

Member Cockerline asked at how many foot candles a shadow is cast. He also commented that the 243 

large project currently under way at Hotchkiss School includes additional help hired for the Building 244 

Official.  245 

 246 

Regular Member Riva noted that Bennett Brooks had not yet answered one of his questions in the 247 

record. Regular Member Riva had no further questions.  248 

 249 

Alternate Member Schiffer asked if there would be medical staff at the facility, and how medical 250 

emergencies would be handled, other than calling 9-1-1. Mr. Marrale answered that staff would be 251 

CPR certified and a defibrillator would be available on-site. Alternate Member Schiffer asked if the pool 252 

would have a lifeguard, which Mr. Marrale confirmed.  253 

 254 

Alternate Member Wells asked where the exterior lights would be and if they would be on all night. 255 

Mr. Arigoni answered that the project has to provide a minimum safety level of lighting. He also noted 256 

that the roadways and parking areas will have the nine-foot tall light fixtures, while walkways, cottage 257 

areas, and the pool will have low level bollard lights directed at the ground. He clarified that the 258 

parking lot lights would also be on dimmers.  259 

 260 



LUD Conroy confirmed that for larger projects, the building official and fire marshal have third party 261 

reviewers. She added that third party consulting reviews and inspections are a fairly regular condition 262 

of approval, even for single-family residences. She also confirmed that selective preliminary demolition 263 

for investigative purposes is a standard practice also done on single-family residences. She added that 264 

there have been a number of large house projects in the last five years that have taken two to three 265 

years. Regarding a court case referenced in a letter by Attorney Grimes, LUD Conroy asked Attorney 266 

Grimes and Attorney Mackey how that case differs from the present application.  267 

 268 

Chair Klemens noted that the hearing would be continued to 6:00pm on September 9, 2025. He also 269 

provided a brief outline of the anticipated schedule of that hearing date. A motion was made to 270 

continue the hearing at 9:18pm. 271 

 272 

Motion: To continue the public hearing to September 9, 2025 at 6:00pm via Zoom. 273 

Made by Riva, seconded by Whalen 274 

Vote: 5-0-0 275 

 276 

Adjournment 277 

 278 

Respectfully Submitted, 279 

Miles Todaro 280 

Land Use Technical Specialist 281 


